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Issues Presented
I.
The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the opportunity to cross-examine an adverse witness on subjects relevant to the witness’ credibility. Here, the trial court completely barred defense counsel from asking a sheriff’s deputy, one of the State’s key witnesses, about an incident in which he delayed reporting a fellow deputy’s criminal conduct to protect his own career. Was this error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?
II.
Prosecutors aren’t allowed to demean the people they prosecute by calling them derogatory names in front of the jurors charged with deciding their guilt or innocence. But, in this case, when the prosecutor called Mr Rivera a “bastard” during closing arguments, the trial court overruled defense counsel’s objection. Was this prejudicial error?
Procedural History

On 10 May 2021, defendant Jordan Alexander Rivera went to trial in Catawba County Superior Court, with Judge Athena Brooks presiding, on two counts of first-degree murder, and one count each of first-degree burglary, robbery with a dangerous weapon, conspiracy to commit robbery with a dangerous weapon, and possession of a firearm by a felon. (Rpp 4-8, 31-36). On 7 June 2021, the jury convicted Mr Rivera of two counts of accessory before the fact to first-degree murder, aiding and abetting first-degree burglary, aiding and abetting robbery with a dangerous weapon, conspiracy to commit robbery with a dangerous weapon, and possession of a firearm by a felon. (Rpp 83-92). The trial court imposed two consecutive sentences of life imprisonment without parole for the two murder convictions. (Rpp 95, 97). The court consolidated the conspiracy and firearm possession charges into a single judgment, and sentenced Mr Rivera to a third consecutive, presumptive-range term of 33 to 52 months imprisonment. (Rpp 93, 99). The court arrested judgment on the burglary and robbery convictions. (Rp 101). Mr Rivera appealed. (Tp 1949).
Grounds for Appellate Review
Mr Rivera appeals as a matter of right from final judgments entered upon his convictions in superior court. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1444(a) (2022) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1444(a) (2022)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1444(a) (2022)" \c 2 .
Facts
i. Finding the bodies of Mark Wilson and Deidra Ramseur
Victor Wilson talked with his brother Mark Wilson nearly every day.
 (Tp 1350). They met at Victor’s house on the evening of 12 March 2016, and they talked for about five minutes before Mark left to go home. (Tp 1349). When Mark didn’t respond to Victor’s calls or texts for two days, Victor got concerned. (Tpp 1349-50). So after work on 14 March 2016, Victor went to Mark’s house, where he lived with his girlfriend Deidra Ramseur. (Tpp 1349-50). When he arrived that evening, Victor noticed a package on the doorstep and thought the front door “looked broken.” (Tp 1351). Worried, he went inside the house and called for his brother. (Tp 1351). Not hearing any response, Victor went into the couple’s bedroom, where he saw Mark slumped against a wall and Deidra partially “laid over” the bed—both shot multiple times. (Tpp 1351-52). Mark called 911. (Tp 1352).
Deputies with the Catawba County Sheriff’s Office arrived and swept the house for intruders. (Tp 1371-72). The deputies then checked Mark and Deidra. The deputies didn’t attempt to find a pulse; it was “apparent” both Mark and Deidra were dead due to the “coagulated blood around them.” (Tpp 1373-74, 1377). When the paramedics arrived, they confirmed Mark and Deidra were dead. (Tp 1378).
Inside Mark and Deidra’s bedroom, the deputies found five spent 9mm casings and a spent 12-gauge shotgun shell. (Tpp 1388, 1414-15). Under the mattress, they found a pistol, a loaded magazine, and some ammunition. (Tp 1413). Searching the rest of the house, the deputies found marijuana in the kitchen and living room. (Tp 1395). They also collected nine packages of plastic baggies, six cellphones, several laptops, and a revolver. (Tp 1415).
Mark’s autopsy showed he was shot once in the back of the head with a shotgun. (Tp 1476). It was a “close contact” wound, meaning the barrel of the gun was within a centimeter of his head when it discharged. (Tp 1492). Mark was also shot with a handgun, twice in the neck and twice in the upper chest. (Tpp 1476-78, 1486). The shots to the head and neck were fatal. (Tp 1479).
Like Mark, Deidra was shot multiple times. She was shot once with a shotgun on the left side of her head, near her ear. (Tpp 1471-72). It was also a close contact wound. (Tpp 1473, 1492). Deidra was also shot once in the head with a handgun. (Tp 1472). Both shots were fatal. (Tp 1473).
ii. The investigation

Listening to jail calls, investigators identified as suspects (1) Mr Rivera, who was Deidra’s cousin; (2) Reand Rivera (Rico), who was Mr Rivera’s cousin; (3) Arsenio Curtis (Fufu), a friend of Mr Rivera’s; (4) Devin Ussery, who was Mr Rivera’s sister’s boyfriend; and (5) William Powell, Jr (Lingo), one of Fufu’s friends. (Tpp 1441-42, 1445; St’s Ex’s 25-29). All five men were interviewed.
a.
Mr Rivera’s interview
On 21 July 2016, Mr Rivera was interviewed by then-Lieutenant Aaron Turk. (Tp 1519). Mr Rivera stated he was at home on the evening of 12 March 2016, hanging out with some friends and family, including Rico, Fufu, Lingo, and Devin. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:36:29). Sometime that evening, Fufu told Mr Rivera he was “hurting” for money. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:36:53). When Mr Rivera refused to give Fufu any money, Fufu said he needed to hit a “lick”
 and asked Mr Rivera if he knew of anyone he could rob. (St’s Ex 33A at 45:50, 54:37). Mr Rivera “threw some names out there,” including Deidra’s. Fufu “took it upon himself” to rob Deidra at her house that night. (St’s Ex 33A at 24:52). Rico, Lingo, and Devin were told to “ride” with Fufu. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:33:51). Fufu had a 9mm pistol and a 12-gauge sawed-off shotgun. (St’s Ex 33A at 49:49). He kept the shotgun and gave Rico the pistol. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:04:00). Around 10:00pm, the men left in Rico’s car, with Devin driving. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:07:58, 56:37, 1:08:17). Mr Rivera stayed home. (St’s Ex 33A at 19:57).
When the men returned later that night, Rico told Mr Rivera that once the men got to Mark and Deidra’s house, Devin parked and stayed in the car. (St’s Ex 33A at 39:13). Rico, Fufu, and Lingo went to the front door. Fufu kicked in the door and yelled “ATF.” (St’s Ex 33A at 1:02:27). The three men went inside and found Mark and Deidra already lying on the floor in the bedroom. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:04:11).
Fufu decided Mark and Deidra “had to go” because he wasn’t wearing a mask. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:04:33). So Fufu then shot Deidra in the back of the head with the shotgun, and Rico shot Mark multiple times with the handgun. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:04:47). Mark continued to move, so Fufu reloaded the shotgun and shot him in the head. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:05:06). The men then left the house and returned to Mr Rivera’s apartment. (St’s Ex 33A at 1:38:31). The guns were thrown away. (St’s Ex 33A at 28:53).
b.
Rico’s three interviews
Rico was interviewed three times. In his first interview, Rico tried to “protect” Mr Rivera by telling investigators “he didn’t have anything to do with it.” (Tp 1750). Rico said Fufu had both guns, and that Fufu had given him the handgun before going into the house. (Tpp 1745-46).

In January 2019, after learning Mr Rivera had “snitched” on him, Rico gave investigators a second statement. (Tp 1745). In this version, Rico “put everything off on [Mr Rivera].” (Tp 1749). Rico said Mr Rivera—not Fufu—handed out the guns, and that Mr Rivera rode in the car and went inside the house with the other men. (Tpp 1746, 1750).
Rico eventually pled guilty and gave a third, “post-plea interview” in April 2019. (Tp 1672). In this statement, Rico “laid everything on the table and told the truth.” (Tp 1750). Rico told investigators he brought Lingo to Hickory to be initiated into Mr Rivera’s gang. (Tp 1677). The plan was to “beat in”
 Lingo. (Tpp 1677-79). However, during the get-together on 12 March 2016, Mr Rivera asked Rico if he wanted to “put in some work for him.” (Tp 1681). When Rico declined, Mr Rivera asked Rico if Lingo would do the work as a “substitute” for getting beaten in. (Tp 1682). Lingo said “no.” (Tp 1682). Mr Rivera then told Rico to “get down or lay down,” which Rico understood to mean “do it or die.” (Tp 1682).
Later that night, Mr Rivera discussed the plan with Rico, Fufu, and Lingo, while Devin was outside. (Tp 1684). Mr Rivera told the three men to go into Mark and Deidra’s house, “[t]ake whatever money and drugs they had,” and leave “no witnesses.” (Tp 1684). Mr Rivera then brought Devin back inside and told him to drive the men wherever they needed to go. (Tp 1684). Before leaving the apartment, Mr Rivera gave Rico the pistol and Lingo the shotgun. (Tpp 1686-86).

Devin drove the men to Mark and Deidra’s house. (Tp 1686). Devin parked the car, and Rico, Fufu, and Lingo got out. (Tp 1685). The three men went to the front of the house, and Fufu kicked in the door. (Tp 1687). The men went inside. (Tp 1687). Fufu pointed to the bedroom on the left and told Rico and Lingo to go in. (Tp 1687). Rico entered the room first and turned on the light; Lingo came in behind him. (Tpp 1688-89). Mark was sitting up in bed, and Deidra was sitting on the floor next to the bed. (Tp 1688). Rico and Lingo pointed their guns at Mark and Deidra and told them not to move. (Tp 1689).
Standing in the doorway, Fufu asked Deidra where the drugs and money were. (Tpp 1689-90). She pointed to a bag of marijuana in the corner of the room. (Tp 1690). Lingo got the bag and gave it to Fufu. (Tp 1690). Deidra told Fufu her purse was in the living room. (Tp 1690). When Fufu returned to the bedroom with Deidra’s purse, he told Rico and Lingo to “handle [their] business.” (Tp 1690). Rico pointed his gun at Mark’s head and “emptied the magazine.” (Tp 1690). Lingo then shot Deidra with the shotgun. (Tp 1690). Mark was still alive, so Fufu ordered Lingo to “finish” the job. (Tp 1691). Lingo shot Mark in the head. (Tp 1691). The men then fled the house. (Tp 1690).
Devin drove the men back to Mr Rivera’s apartment, where he asked Rico if they “d[id] it.” (Tpp 1691-92). When Rico said “yes,” Mr Rivera got excited and asked what they got from the house. (Tp 1692). When he saw the amount of marijuana and money, Mr Rivera got mad, saying “there was supposed to be more.” (Tp 1692). Rico weighed the drugs and counted the money: there were 32 grams of marijuana and nearly $1200 in cash. (Tp 1697).
Rico and Lingo returned to Fayetteville the next day. (Tpp 1695-96). Before leaving, Rico asked Mr Rivera why he had the men rob and shoot Mark and Deidra. (Tpp 1696-97). Mr Rivera said Deidra was “informing on him about something.” (Tp 1697).
iii.
Mr Rivera’s prosecution
Prior to trial, the State advised the trial court that it anticipated its presentation of evidence to last three to five weeks. (Tp 111). Once the State began its case-in-chief, however, problems arose. First, when the State called Devin as a witness, he refused to testify against Mr Rivera, despite being required to do so by his plea agreement. (Tp 1645). After that, the State didn’t bother to call Fufu or Lingo to testify.
The State did, however, call Rico as a witness. Rico testified against Mr Rivera with the “hope” that his sentence of 30 to 39 years would get reduced if he helped convict Mr Rivera. (Tp 1753). In preparing to testify, Rico reviewed only his third statement to investigators, and he based his trial testimony off that story. (Tp 1707). Even with Rico’s testimony, the State’s case-in-chief lasted only four days.
Argument
I. The trial court violated Mr Rivera’s Sixth Amendment rights by completely barring defense counsel from cross-examining Lt Turk about his failure to timely report a fellow deputy’s crimes.
While investigating Mark and Deidra’s deaths, Lt Turk interviewed Mr Rivera. During the interview, Lt Turk acknowledged Mr Rivera was “in a tough spot” but repeatedly told him it was an “opportunity” to “d[o] the right thing” and “tell the truth.” (St’s Ex 33A at 37:44, 34:40-42, 36:09, 36:56, 37:06). The jury heard Lt Turk’s advice to Mr Rivera. What the jury didn’t hear was that Lt Turk had also been in a tough spot. Through direct, personal conversations with a fellow deputy, Lt Turk learned the deputy was engaging in criminal activity. (Rp 21). Lt Turk, however, delayed telling authorities about the deputy’s crimes because he believed it would negatively impact his career. (Rp 22).
Defense counsel wanted to cross-examine Lt Turk about his decision to stay silent, an act the jury might reasonably have found to undermine his credibility as a witness. (Tp 1595). The trial court refused. (Tp 1607). That refusal violated Mr Rivera’s Sixth Amendment rights to confrontation and cross-examination. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986) TA \l "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" \c 1 . The error wasn’t harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and thus Mr Rivera is entitled to a new trial. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967) TA \l "Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)" \s "Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)" \c 1 .
A. Standard of review
On appeal, a trial court’s control of cross-examination is ordinarily reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 271 (1994) TA \l "State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 271 (1994)" \s "State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 271 (1994)" \c 1 . But where the trial court’s limitation on cross-examination directly implicates the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation, the court’s ruling is reviewed de novo. State v. Lowery, 219 N.C. App. 151, 156 (2012) TA \l "State v. Lowery, 219 N.C. App. 151, 156 (2012)" \s "State v. Lowery, 219 N.C. App. 151, 156 (2012)" \c 1 ; see also United States v. Wilcox, 631 F.3d 740, 749 (5th Cir. 2011) TA \l "United States v. Wilcox, 631 F.3d 740, 749 (5th Cir. 2011)" \s "United States v. Wilcox, 631 F.3d 740, 749 (5th Cir. 2011)" \c 1  (“Review of a [trial] court’s limitation of cross-examination, and thus, a violation of the Confrontation Clause, is de novo; in the absence of a Sixth Amendment violation, we review the limitation for abuse of discretion.”). Under this standard, the reviewing court considers the constitutional question anew and freely substitutes its conclusion for the conclusion of the trial court. State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33 (2008) TA \l "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33 (2008)" \s "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33 (2008)" \c 1 .
B. The right to confrontation prohibits the trial court from completely barring the defense from impeaching an adverse witness on cross-examination.
“The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment guarantees the right of an accused in a criminal prosecution ‘to be confronted with the witnesses against him [or her].’” Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 678 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)"  (quoting U.S. Const. amend. VI TA \l "U.S. Const. amend. VI" \s "U.S. Const. amend. VI" \c 7 ). The “central” purpose of this right is to “ensure the reliability of the evidence against a criminal defendant by subjecting it to rigorous testing in the context of an adversary proceeding before the trier of fact.” Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 845 (1990) TA \l "Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 845 (1990)" \s "Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 845 (1990)" \c 1 . This rigorous testing comes in the form of cross-examination, the “principal means” through which the jury evaluates “the believability of a witness and the truth of his [or her] testimony.” Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974) TA \l "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)" \s "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)" \c 1 .
In cross-examining an adverse witness, the defendant is “not only permitted to delve into the witness’ story to test the witness’ perceptions and memory,” the defendant is also “allowed to impeach, i.e., discredit, the witness.” Id. TA \s "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)"  Impeachment is permissible because the credibility of a witness is “always relevant.” Id. TA \s "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)"  (citation and quotation marks omitted); accord State v. McCutcheon, 281 N.C. App. 149, 2021-NCCOA-699 TA \l "State v. McCutcheon, 281 N.C. App. 149, 2021-NCCOA-699" \s "State v. McCutcheon, 281 N.C. App. 149, 2021-NCCOA-699" \c 1 , ¶ 21 (“[E]vidence impacting the jury’s assessment of witnesses’ credibility generally is always relevant under Rule 401.”).

The right to confrontation and cross-examination are “central to an effective defense and a fair trial.” State v. Legette, 292 N.C. 44, 53 (1977) TA \l "State v. Legette, 292 N.C. 44, 53 (1977)" \s "State v. Legette, 292 N.C. 44, 53 (1977)" \c 1 . Consequently, the complete denial of cross-examination into a subject relevant to a witness’ credibility violates the Sixth Amendment. See Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988) TA \l "Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988)" \s "Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988)" \c 1  (per curiam) (exclusion of all inquiry on cross-examination into prosecution witness’ motive to lie went “beyond reason” and violated Sixth Amendment); Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 679 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)"  (“By thus cutting off all questioning about an event . . . that a jury might reasonably have found furnished the witness a motive for favoring the prosecution in his testimony, the court’s ruling violated respondent’s rights secured by the Confrontation Clause.” (emphasis added)); Alford v. United States, 282 U.S. 687, 694 (1931) TA \l "Alford v. United States, 282 U.S. 687, 694 (1931)" \s "Alford v. United States, 282 U.S. 687, 694 (1931)" \c 1  (trial court committed “prejudicial error” by “cut[ting] off in limine all inquiry” into witness’ potential bias, “a subject with respect to which the defense was entitled to a reasonable cross examination” (emphasis added)); Legette, 292 N.C. at 53 TA \s "State v. Legette, 292 N.C. 44, 53 (1977)"  (“It has been held to be an abuse of discretion and a violation of constitutional rights to deny to a defendant the right to cross-examine a witness at all on a subject matter relevant to the witness’ credibility.” (citation and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added)).
However, so long as the trial court affords the defendant an opportunity to conduct “reasonable cross-examination” into a subject affecting the witness’ credibility, the court may “impose reasonable limits” on that examination based on concerns such as harassment, prejudice, confusion, repetition, or marginal relevance. Olden, 488 U.S TA \s "Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988)" . at 232; State v. Durham, 74 N.C. App. 159, 163 (1985) TA \l "State v. Durham, 74 N.C. App. 159, 163 (1985)" \s "State v. Durham, 74 N.C. App. 159, 163 (1985)" \c 1 . In determining the reasonableness of the trial court’s limitations, the question is whether “[a] reasonable jury might have received a significantly different impression of [the witness’] credibility had [defense] counsel been permitted to pursue his [or her] proposed line of cross-examination.” Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 680 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" .
C. The trial court erred by cutting off all questioning into Lt Turk’s failure to timely report a fellow deputy’s crimes.
i.
The impeachment evidence, the parties’ arguments for and against impeachment, and the trial court’s ruling.
In March 2020, defense counsel learned the prosecution was in possession of “[G]iglio material”
 on Lt Turk that hadn’t been previously disclosed. (Rp 14). The prosecutor submitted the requested file to the trial court and asked for an in camera review to determine whether it should be released to the defense. (Rp 13). After reviewing the file, the trial court determined the information might be relevant to Mr Rivera’s defense and ordered the prosecutor to hand over the file. (Rp 29).

The file contains documents—primarily an SBI agent’s report and transcript excerpts from other judicial proceedings—showing then-Captain Jason Reid, the son of the elected sheriff, called Lt Turk in the fall of 2017 and admitted he’d taken a GPS tracker from the sheriff’s office and put it on his ex-girlfriend’s car. (Rp 20). Cpt Reid told Lt Turk the tracker had been discovered, and he asked Lt Turk about the “legal trouble” he could be facing if the tracker were traced back to him. (Rp 20). Lt Turk advised Cpt Reid he could be charged with various stalking offenses, among other things. (Rp 20). Cpt Reid called Lt Turk a second time to say he believed the tracker couldn’t be traced back to the sheriff’s office, and that he thought the tracker didn’t contain any data linking it to him. (Rp 20). After these calls, Lt Turk didn’t “t[ell] anyone” about Cpt Reid’s criminal conduct because he believed the sheriff would fire him to protect his son. (Rp 22). Not until May 2018—after the sheriff had decided not to run for reelection—did Lt Turk tell the SBI about Cpt Reid’s crimes. (Rp 19).
On the morning trial began, the State filed a motion to prevent the defense from questioning Lt Turk about his delayed reporting of Cpt Reid’s crimes. (Rp 45). The trial court declined to rule on the motion before hearing Lt Turk’s testimony, indicating it would revisit the motion if it became an issue on cross-examination. (Tp 101).
During defense counsel’s cross-examination of Lt Turk, she began a line of questioning about whether people have a legal duty to report a crime. Lt Turk testified that, other than in child abuse cases, the ordinary “citizen” doesn’t have a legal obligation to report a crime. (Tpp 1592-93). Counsel then asked him if the “duty is different” for law enforcement officers, and whether they have a duty to report a crime. (Tp 1595).
When the trial court sustained the State’s objection, defense counsel asked to be heard outside the jury’s presence. (Tp 1595). In response to the court’s ruling, defense counsel asked to make an “offer of proof of the line of questioning” regarding the “Giglio information.” (Tp 1596). On voir dire,
 Lt Turk testified that, unlike a “private citizen,” if a law enforcement officer “becomes aware of a crime,” the officer has a “duty to report it.” (Tpp 1597-98). He also acknowledged knowing an officer’s failure to report a crime could constitute the willful failure to discharge the officer’s duties, a misdemeanor under § 14-230(a). (Tp 1598). Defense counsel followed up by asking Lt Turk:
Q. . . . . Well, have you yourself ever been in a situation where you received information about criminal activity by a fellow lawyer—a fellow officer and you did not report it at the time you learned about it?
A. Yes.
(Tp 1599). Counsel told the court if she were permitted to cross-examine Lt Turk in front of the jury, she wouldn’t ask any additional questions because she didn’t want to “further embarrass” him. (Tp 1606).
In support of its motion and objection, the State primarily argued defense counsel shouldn’t be permitted to ask Lt Turk about his delayed disclosure because the conduct wasn’t “relevant” under Rule 401 of the Rules of Evidence: “It d[id]n’t have any tendency to prove any fact that [wa]s of consequence to the termination of this action.” (Tp 1601, 1605). The State also believed impeaching Lt Turk with the Giglio information would “embarrass and demean” him. (Tp 1601). Finally, the State contended cross-examination into the issue should be barred under Rule 403 due to “unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, [and] waste of time.” (Tp 1601).
Defense counsel countered that the defense “ha[d] a Sixth Amendment right to cross-examine” Lt Turk, “one of [the State’s] main witnesses,” about his delayed disclosure because the jury could find the conduct “relevant” to his credibility as a witness. (Tpp 1602, 1605). The Sixth Amendment entitled the defense to “meet the State’s case”: Since the State was permitted to play for the jury the video in which Lt Turk told Mr Rivera he wasn’t “mak[ing] . . . the right [decision]” by withholding the truth, the defense should be allowed to present evidence showing Lt Turk had similarly withheld information about another deputy’s crimes, despite having a legal duty to report them. (Tp 1604).
After hearing arguments, the trial court sustained the State’s objection and barred defense counsel from cross-examining Lt Turk with the Giglio material:
THE COURT: In this matter the defense has so far been able to ask questions of the jury as to that the—there is no law, other than child abuse, where a person has to report a crime. Questions of that nature. Therefore, those facts are in front of the jury for their use. The Court finds that further questions as to this officer’s specific duties and/or responsibility is going to confuse the jury, mislead the jury, is going to cause us to go down a rabbit hole of other questions possibly. I’m not saying we will, but we could. The probative value of this evidence is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial value. It will not be admitted.
(Tp 1607). The court “note[d] [defense counsel’s] objection to that ruling under the Sixth Amendment.” (Tp 1607). In light of the court’s ruling, defense counsel didn’t ask Lt Turk any further questions on cross-examination. (Tp 1607).
ii.
None of the trial court’s reasons justified completely barring defense counsel from impeaching Lt Turk with evidence he failed to timely report a fellow deputy’s crimes.

Here, contrary to the State’s contention, the Giglio material undermining Lt Turk’s credibility was relevant because “[t]he credibility of [a] witness is always relevant in the search for truth.” Creekmore v. Crossno, 259 F.2d 697, 698 (10th Cir. 1958) (citation and quotation marks omitted). Indeed, Lt Turk’s credibility was “especially” relevant since he was “testifying for the government in a criminal trial.” United States v. Green, 617 F.3d 233, 251 (3d Cir. 2010). Mr Rivera was thus entitled to “expose to the jury the facts from which jurors, as the sole triers of fact and credibility, could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” Davis, 415 U.S. at 318.
The trial court, however, did exactly what the Supreme Court forbade in Olden, Van Arsdall, and Alford: “the trial court prohibited all inquiry into the possibility” that Lt Turk wasn’t a credible witness because he’d intentionally withheld information about another deputy’s crimes despite being obligated to report them. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 679 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" . By “cutting off all questioning” about conduct “the State conceded had taken place” and that the “jury might reasonably have found” as negatively impacting Lt Turk’s credibility, “the court’s ruling violated [Mr Rivera]’s rights secured by the Confrontation Clause.” Id. TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" ; e.g., State v. Guthrie, 110 N.C. App. 91, 94 (1993) TA \l "State v. Guthrie, 110 N.C. App. 91, 94 (1993)" \s "State v. Guthrie, 110 N.C. App. 91, 94 (1993)" \c 1  (trial court committed reversible error by completely barring defendant from “developing” evidence on cross-examination on subject “relevant” to witness’ credibility).

Put simply, the trial court “failed to accord proper weight to [Mr Rivera]’s Sixth Amendment right[s]” to confrontation and cross-examination. Olden, 488 U.S. at 231 TA \s "Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 232 (1988)" . While the concerns expressed by the court—confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, and prejudice—might, if justified by the circumstances, allow the court to impose reasonable limitations on counsel’s questioning, those concerns don’t outweigh “so vital a constitutional right as the effective cross-examination” into an adverse witness’ credibility. Davis, 415 U.S. at 320 TA \s "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)" ; see Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 676, 679 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)"  (where trial court precluded “any cross-examination” into witness’ potential bias based on Rule 403, court violated defendant’s right to confrontation).
As in Olden, Van Arsdall, and Alford, the trial court violated Mr Rivera’s Sixth Amendment right to confrontation and cross-examination by prohibiting defense counsel from asking Lt Turk any questions about his decision to withhold information regarding a fellow deputy’s criminal conduct despite having a duty to report such crimes—evidence that might’ve provided the jury with a “significantly different impression of [Lt Turk]’s credibility.” Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 680 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" .
D. The State can’t prove the Sixth Amendment violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
Where, as here, a trial court violates a defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to impeach an adverse witness’ credibility through cross-examination, the constitutional error is reviewed under the “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” standard. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" . Under this standard, the defendant is entitled to a new trial unless the reviewing court is convinced “beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24 TA \s "Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)" . The State, as the “beneficiary of the error,” id., TA \s "Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)"  bears the “decidedly heavy burden” of convincing the court “reversal is not warranted,” United States v. Waller, 654 F.3d 430, 438 (3d Cir. 2011) TA \l "United States v. Waller, 654 F.3d 430, 438 (3d Cir. 2011)" \s "United States v. Waller, 654 F.3d 430, 438 (3d Cir. 2011)" \c 1 .

In judging whether the denial of the right to cross-examination requires a new trial, “[t]he correct inquiry is whether, assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" . With this assumption in place, the reviewing court considers 

the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.
Id. TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" 
Here, all five Van Arsdall factors weigh against a finding of harmlessness. First, Lt Turk’s testimony was important to the State’s case against Mr Rivera. As the deputy who conducted Mr Rivera’s interview, Lt Turk’s testimony was necessary to lay the foundation for the admission of the recording of that interview. See State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 270 (1994) TA \l "State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 270 (1994)" \s "State v. Lee, 335 N.C. 244, 270 (1994)" \c 1  (for a photograph or videotape to be admitted, “it must first be properly authenticated by a witness with knowledge that the evidence is in fact what it purports to be”). Without his testimony authenticating the videotape, (Tpp 1519-1520), it would’ve been inadmissible. State v. Mason, 144 N.C. App. 20, 27 (2001) TA \l "State v. Mason, 144 N.C. App. 20, 27 (2001)" \s "State v. Mason, 144 N.C. App. 20, 27 (2001)" \c 1 .
Moreover, the importance of Lt Turk’s testimony is highlighted by the State’s repeated references to Lt Turk or his interview with Mr Rivera during its closing argument. Cf. State v. Hoffman, 349 N.C. 167, 180 (1998) TA \l "State v. Hoffman, 349 N.C. 167, 180 (1998)" \s "State v. Hoffman, 349 N.C. 167, 180 (1998)" \c 1  (violation of right to impeach witness on cross-examination was harmless because, among other reasons, witness’ testimony was of “minimal importance” as evidenced by “the prosecutor scarcely mentioned him in his closing argument”). Indeed, the State’s closing argument spans roughly 24 pages, and in those 24 pages, the State mentions Lt Turk’s testimony or statements he elicited from Mr Rivera during the interview at least 13 times. (Tpp 1812-36). Lt Turk’s prominence in the State’s case against Mr Rivera establishes the trial court’s refusal to allow defense counsel to impeach Lt Turk wasn’t harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
Nor was Lt Turk’s testimony cumulative. In addition to laying the foundation for the admission of the videotape, Lt Turk explained to the jurors some of the slang terms they’d hear while watching the interview. He explained, for example, that a “strap” is “a gun,” and that “the term ‘busting or hitting a lick’” means to “engage in some crime to get money or something of value.” (Tpp 1521-22). Without Lt Turk’s testimony, the jurors would’ve had to consider and weigh what they heard and saw in the video while having meaningful gaps in their understanding of what they heard and saw. Accordingly, Van Arsdall’s second factor also weighs in favor of concluding the error wasn’t harmless.
As for Van Arsdall’s third factor, the State didn’t present any other evidence corroborating the “material points” of Lt Turk’s testimony. Cf. Benn v. Greiner, 402 F.3d 100, 106 (2d Cir. 2005) TA \l "Benn v. Greiner, 402 F.3d 100, 106 (2d Cir. 2005)" \s "Benn v. Greiner, 402 F.3d 100, 106 (2d Cir. 2005)" \c 1  (error in limiting cross-examination of victim was harmless where, among other things, “[victim]’s testimony about key details of the assault was strongly corroborated”). This Van Arsdall factor thus points towards the error being harmful.
With respect to Van Arsdall’s fourth factor, while defense counsel was permitted to cross-examine Lt Turk on subjects other than the Giglio material, none of them were directly relevant to his credibility as a witness. Cf. Hoffman, 349 N.C. at 180 TA \s "State v. Hoffman, 349 N.C. 167, 180 (1998)"  (violation of right to cross-examination was harmless because, among other reasons, witness was “thoroughly impeached” with other evidence). Accordingly, this factor also shows the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
Finally, the State’s case against Mr Rivera wasn’t overwhelming. The State’s prosecution of Mr Rivera didn’t go according to plan. Although the State budgeted three to five weeks for trial, its case-in-chief lasted only four days. (Tp 111). During those four days, the State was able to establish the obvious facts that someone broke into Mark and Deidra’s home and killed them—this much was evident from the front door being kicked in and their bodies, riddled with gunshot wounds, being found in their bedroom.

But the State’s case weakened when it came to proving who broke into the house and shot Mark and Deidra—and why. All four of Mr Rivera’s codefendants agreed, as part of their plea deals, to testify against each other. But at the time of Mr Rivera’s trial, only one codefendant—Rico—agreed to cooperate. Consequently, of the four people who could tell the jury what really happened on the night of 12 March 2016, only one of them testified. And Rico did so with the express “hope” of getting his sentence “reduced” in exchange for his testimony against Mr Rivera. (Tp 1753).

In addition to having “a motive for favoring the prosecution in his testimony,” Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 679 TA \s "Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986)" , Rico’s credibility was undermined by the fact that he’d given investigators three different versions of events. In his initial interview with investigators in July 2016, Rico tried to “protect” Mr Rivera by saying it was Fufu who was giving orders. (Tpp 1710, 1704, 1708-10). But after learning Mr Rivera had “given up [his] name” to investigators, Rico gave a second statement in which he “‘put everything off on [Mr Rivera],’” making Mr Rivera an active participant in the break-in, robbery, and murders. (Tpp 1712, 1749-51). Finally, pursuant to his plea agreement, Rico gave a recorded interview where he claimed to “la[y] everything on the table and t[ell] the truth.” (Tp 1750). Rico reviewed his third statement—and only his third statement—in preparing for trial, and he acknowledged “basing” his trial testimony on this third statement. (Tp 1753).

Rico’s credibility not only suffered from problems with bias and inconsistency, it also suffered from factual implausibility. Rico testified, for example, that the only firearms used during the break-in were the handgun and the shotgun—and he was the one with the handgun. (Tp 1686). Rico acknowledged using the handgun to shoot and kill Mark, but swore he never shot Deidra. (Tpp 1721-24). And yet the State’s forensic pathologist testified unequivocally that one of Deidra’s fatal wounds came from being shot with a handgun. (Tpp 1471-73, 1486).

In sum, the only testimony the State was able to produce about what occurred on the night of 12 March 2016 came from a codefendant who provided three incompatible versions of events, and who only agreed to testify against Mr Rivera in hopes of getting a reduced sentence. Rico’s testimony also lacked believability, saying it was “impossible” for Deidra to have been shot with a handgun despite forensic evidence showing she’d been shot with a handgun. (Tp 1724).

While the State’s evidence may have been sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss, it wasn’t overwhelming. See State v. Willis, 136 N.C. App. 820, 824 (2000) TA \l "State v. Willis, 136 N.C. App. 820, 824 (2000)" \s "State v. Willis, 136 N.C. App. 820, 824 (2000)" \c 1  (evidence “sufficient to support [a] conviction” doesn’t equate to “overwhelming” evidence precluding a finding of prejudice). The State’s case hinged on the testimony of a witness who had a reason to be biased in favor of the prosecution, who claimed all his prior versions of events that were inconsistent with his trial testimony were “lie[s],” (Tp 1750), and whose trial testimony was directly contradicted by the State’s own forensic evidence. Given the State’s “weak” case, the State can’t prove the denial of Mr Rivera’s right to confrontation and cross-examination was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88-89 (1935) TA \l "Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88-89 (1935)" \s "Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88-89 (1935)" \c 1  (prosecution’s case was “weak” as it “depend[ed]” on the testimony of “an accomplice with a long criminal record”).
Here, as in Davis, 415 U.S. at 319 TA \s "Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974)" , Lt Turk’s testimony was “crucial,” and there was a “real possibility” that impeaching his credibility with the excluded Giglio evidence would have done “[s]erious damage to the strength of the State’s case.” Thus the trial court’s complete prohibition on pursuing that line of questioning on cross-examination can’t be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr Rivera is entitled to a new trial.
II. The prosecutor called Mr Rivera a “bastard” during closing argument and the trial court compounded the prejudice by overruling defense counsel’s objection.
“If verdicts cannot be carried without appealing to prejudice or resorting to unwarranted denunciation, they ought not to be carried at all.” State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 714 (1925) TA \l "State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 714 (1925)" \s "State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 714 (1925)" \c 1 . Despite this nearly century-old admonition, the prosecutor in this case appealed to prejudice and resorted to unwarranted denunciation by calling Mr Rivera a “bastard” during closing arguments. (Tp 1832). And the trial court made it worse by overruling defense counsel’s objection to the name-calling. (Tp 1832).
“The penalty for engaging in such remarks, when not properly and fully corrected by the court and all prejudice removed, is a new trial[.]” Id. TA \s "State v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708, 714 (1925)"  Mr Rivera is entitled to a new trial where he isn’t called a bastard in front of the people deciding whether he’s guilty or innocent.
E. Standard of review
Where, as here, a defendant objects to the prosecutor’s remarks during closing argument, the trial court’s failure to sustain the objection is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002) TA \l "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" \c 1 . Under this standard, the reviewing court determines whether the trial court’s ruling was the result of a reasoned decision. Jones, 355 N.C. at 131 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . This determination breaks down into a two-step analysis: judging first whether the prosecutor’s remarks were improper, and, if so, whether the improper argument prejudiced the defendant. Id. TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" 
F. Demeaning a person in front of the jurors deciding his or her guilt is a base and improper tactic.
Prosecutors are given “wide latitude” in the scope and substance of their closing arguments. State v. Zuniga, 320 N.C. 233, 253 (1987) TA \l "State v. Zuniga, 320 N.C. 233, 253 (1987)" \s "State v. Zuniga, 320 N.C. 233, 253 (1987)" \c 1 . This leeway allows prosecutors to “argue the law and the facts in evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from them.” State v. Larrimore, 340 N.C. 119, 164 (1995) TA \l "State v. Larrimore, 340 N.C. 119, 164 (1995)" \s "State v. Larrimore, 340 N.C. 119, 164 (1995)" \c 1  (citation and quotation marks omitted). But this latitude “has its limits.” Jones, 355 N.C. at 129 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . The “rules of fair debate” prohibit prosecutors from injecting their “personal opinion,” engaging in “name-calling,” referring to matters outside the record, or appealing to “passion or prejudice.” Id. at 130 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" , 135; N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a) (2022) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a) (2022)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1230(a) (2022)" \c 2 . Such “base tactics” are entirely inappropriate in “the adversarial process that forms the basis of our justice system.” State v. Huey, 370 N.C. 174, 187 (2017) TA \l "State v. Huey, 370 N.C. 174, 187 (2017)" \s "State v. Huey, 370 N.C. 174, 187 (2017)" \c 1  (citation and quotation marks omitted).
Consequently, using degrading or offensive names or characterizations during closing arguments is a “clear-cut violation[]” of the defendant’s rights and of “the sanctity of the proceedings.” Jones, 355 N.C TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . at 129, 133; e.g., State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111 (2004) TA \l "State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111 (2004)" \s "State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111 (2004)" \c 1  (improper for prosecutor to “characterize[] defendant as a ‘monster,’ ‘demon,’ ‘devil,’ ‘a man without morals’ and as having a ‘monster mind’”); Jones, 355 N.C. at 133-34 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)"  (prosecutor “exceed[ed] the boundaries of proper argument” by calling defendant a “‘quitter,’” a “‘loser,’” “‘worthless,’” “‘as mean as they come,’” and “‘lower than the dirt on a snake’s belly’”); State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 165-66 (1971) TA \l "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 165-66 (1971)" \s "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 165-66 (1971)" \c 1  (prosecutor “violate[d] the rules of fair debate” by characterizing defendant as “‘lower than the bone belly of a cur dog’”); State v. Wyatt, 254 N.C. 220, 222 (1961) TA \l "State v. Wyatt, 254 N.C. 220, 222 (1961)" \s "State v. Wyatt, 254 N.C. 220, 222 (1961)" \c 1  (“highly improper” for prosecutor to describe defendants as “‘two of the slickest confidence men’”); State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980) TA \l "State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980)" \s "State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980)" \c 1  (prosecutor’s calling defendant a “‘mean S.O.B.’” was “highly improper”); see also Gilcrease v. State, 32 S.W.3d 277, 279 (2000) TA \l "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279" \s "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279" \c 1  (prosecutor’s labelling defendant a “‘bastard’” was “misconduct”).
When a defendant objects to the prosecutor’s name-calling, the trial court has a “duty” to “censure” the remarks. State v. Britt, 288 N.C. 699, 712 (1975) TA \l "State v. Britt, 288 N.C. 699, 712 (1975)" \s "State v. Britt, 288 N.C. 699, 712 (1975)" \c 1 . This duty requires the court to sustain the objection and instruct the jury to disregard the unwarranted remarks.  State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 166 (1971) TA \l "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 166 (1971)" \s "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 166 (1971)" \c 1 . The court’s failure to take these “requisite curative measures” constitutes error. State v. Barfield, 127 N.C. App. 399, 402 (1997) TA \l "State v. Barfield, 127 N.C. App. 399, 402 (1997)" \s "State v. Barfield, 127 N.C. App. 399, 402 (1997)" \c 1 .
G. The prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a “bastard” was improper, and the trial court abused its discretion by overruling defense counsel’s objection.
During the State’s case-in-chief, the prosecutor played the video of Mr Rivera’s interview. During the interview, Mr Rivera explained the break-in and murders weren’t gang-related, saying:

What do you want to know? I’m not gang related. If I tell—I just got—I just got fucking pull, man. Okay. I get money. Okay. Y’all know that shit since y’all did y’all background. Y’all know I get money. If I tell somebody to do something, they’re going to do it. Simple as that, bro. It’s not organized crime. It’s not no RICO. It’s not no gang related. If I say, cuz, go, they’re going to go. If I’m out there in the world and I tell this bitch, drop and suck my dick, she’s going to drop and suck my dick. Why? Cause I’m that nigger out there in the world. If I tell the bitch to write me, she’s going to write me. Why? Cause I’m that nigger. Simple as that, bro. Got nothing to do with nothing.
(St’s Ex 33A at 1:31:03).
During his closing argument, the prosecutor referenced Mr Rivera’s statement, arguing the jury should infer the three men—Rico, Lingo, and Fufu—were following Mr Rivera’s orders when they broke in and shot Mark and Deidra because Mr Rivera was their “[c]ommander” and they were his unquestioning “troops”:
Are we to believe, of all the names that were given, nobody was closer than this? There wasn’t someone that he gave a name in Hickory they could have robbed? It’s because he didn’t give a bunch of names. He gave one name. “They stood in my fucking house and got ready.” He knew what they were doing. He knew because he told them what to do. “Man, if I be, like, cuz, go. They’re going to go. Simple as that. What else do you want to know?” Commander tells his troops to go. They don’t question. They go. “If I tell someone to do something, they are going to do it. Simple as that.” Shortly after that he gave you an example. I’m not going to repeat it, but it involved telling the girl to do something. “And when I tell her to do it, she’ll do it.” I’m sorry. He’s an arrogant bastard.
MS. JAYNE: Objection.
THE COURT: Overruled.
(Tpp  1831-32).
Even when “viewed in context,” State v. Alston, 341 N.C. 198, 239 (1995) TA \l "State v. Alston, 341 N.C. 198, 239 (1995)" \s "State v. Alston, 341 N.C. 198, 239 (1995)" \c 1 , the prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a “bastard” was improper. The use of such pejorative language “le[d] [the] jurors away from the evidence by appealing instead to their sense of passion and prejudice.” Jones, 355 N.C. at 132 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . Mr Rivera is a bastard and the jury should find him guilty, so the prosecutor’s argument goes, because he has “pull” “in the world” and can make a “bitch . . . drop and suck [his] dick.” But no matter how “objectively despicable” the prosecutor believed Mr Rivera’s treatment of women to be, Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279 TA \s "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279" , that conduct can’t make him guilty of the charges for which he was on trial, see State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 19 (1994) TA \l "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 19 (1994)" \s "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 19 (1994)" \c 1  (insinuation during closing argument that murder defendant had committed at least one other murder was improper because it allowed jury to “consider[] him . . . more culpable”). The jury didn’t “need counsel’s illegitimate attempt to demean” Mr Rivera to reach a conclusion. Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279 TA \s "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279" ; see Jones, 355 N.C. at 134 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)"  (prosecutor’s name-calling was improper, in part, because it “shifted the focus from the jury’s opinion” of defendant to “the prosecutor’s opinion”). If the prosecutor felt compelled to call Mr Rivera a bastard, he should’ve waited until he was out of the “courtroom” and in the “street.” Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279 TA \s "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279" .
The prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard was improper. The court, consequently, erred by not sustaining defense counsel’s objection and instructing the jury to disregard the improper statement. See State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 660 (1967) TA \l "State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 660 (1967)" \s "State v. Miller, 271 N.C. 646, 660 (1967)" \c 1  (“The error in the case at bar consists in the fact that the court did not forbid the grossly unfair and improper argument of the solicitor well calculated to mislead and prejudice the jury in respect to their being in effect habitual storebreakers, and did not charge the jury to disregard such grossly unfair argument.”); see also Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279 TA \s "Gilcrease, 32 S.W.3d at 279"  (when prosecutor called defendant a “bastard,” “[t]he trial court should have sustained the objection and admonished the State’s attorney”). The trial court’s refusal to sustain defense counsel’s objection to the prosecutor’s improper closing argument was not a reasoned decision and thus amounts to an abuse of discretion. Jones, 355 N.C. at 135. TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" 
H. Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the trial court’s failure to sustain defense counsel’s objection to the prosecutor’s improper name-calling.
The prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard was improper. Had the trial court sustained defense counsel’s objection and prevented the insult from being “uttered,” there is a reasonable possibility the jury would’ve reached a different result in Mr Rivera’s case. State v. Sanders, 303 N.C. 608, 617 (1981) TA \l "State v. Sanders, 303 N.C. 608, 617 (1981)" \s "State v. Sanders, 303 N.C. 608, 617 (1981)" \c 1  (citing N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a)" \c 2 ). Mr Rivera should thus be given the “opportunity to go before another jury.” Smith, 279 N.C. at 167 TA \s "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 166 (1971)" .
In assessing the prejudicial impact of an improper closing argument, the “focus [is] on the statements’ likely effect on the jury’s role as fact-finder, namely whether the jury relied on the evidence or on prejudice enflamed by the prosecutor’s statements.” Huey, 370 N.C. at 185 TA \s "State v. Huey, 370 N.C. 174, 187 (2017)" . “Incongruity” between “the evidence presented at trial” and “what the jury actually found” indicates “prejudice in the conviction.” Id. TA \s "State v. Huey, 370 N.C. 174, 187 (2017)" 
First, the prosecutor’s improper argument prejudiced Mr Rivera by “deflect[ing] the jury away from its proper role as a fact-finder by appealing to its members’ passions and/or prejudices.” Jones, 355 N.C. at 134 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . Use of the term “bastard” in referring to Mr Rivera was “degrading and disrespectful,” Davis, 45 N.C. App. at 115 TA \s "State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980)" , and parallels “other language that has been tied to prejudicial error in the past,” Jones, 355 N.C. at 133 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . For example, if the defendant in Matthews, 358 N.C. at 111 TA \s "State v. Matthews, 358 N.C. 102, 111 (2004)"  was prejudiced by being called “a man without morals,” then Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the prosecutor calling him a “bastard.” If the defendant in Jones, 355 N.C. at 133-34 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" , was prejudiced by being characterized as “‘lower than the dirt on a snake’s belly,’” then Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the prosecutor calling him a “bastard.” If the defendant in Smith, 279 N.C. at 167 TA \s "State v. Smith, 279 N.C. 163, 166 (1971)" , was prejudiced by being described as “‘lower than the bone belly of a cur dog,’” then Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the prosecutor calling him a “bastard.” If the defendants in Wyatt, 254 N.C. at 222 TA \s "State v. Wyatt, 254 N.C. 220, 222 (1961)" , were prejudiced by being called “‘slick[] confidence men,’” then Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the prosecutor calling him a “bastard.” And if the defendant in Davis, 45 N.C. App. at 115 TA \s "State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980)" , was prejudiced by being called a “‘mean S.O.B,’” then Mr Rivera was prejudiced by the prosecutor calling him a “bastard.”
The term “bastard” is “offensive” and “stigma[tizing],” and the prosecutor’s use of the insult “improperly le[d] the jury to base its decision not on the evidence relating to the [charges] submitted, but on misleading characterizations, crafted by counsel, that [we]re intended to undermine reason in favor of visceral appeal.” Jones, 355 N.C. at 132, 133, 134 TA \s "State v. Jones, 355 N.C. 117, 131 (2002)" . The prosecutor’s use of the insult “prohibit[ed] [Mr Rivera] from receiving a fair and impartial trial.” Davis, 45 N.C. App. at 115 TA \s "State v. Davis, 45 N.C. App. 113, 115 (1980)" .
The trial court’s response to defense counsel’s objection only compounded the prejudice. The court’s erroneous overruling of the objection “did not deter the misconduct” and did nothing “to prevent it from influencing the jury.” State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 20 (1994) TA \l "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 20 (1994)" \s "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 20 (1994)" \c 1 . Indeed, the court’s refusal to sustain the objection “presumably left [the jury] with the impression” that the prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard was not inappropriate, and that it could adopt the prosecutor’s opinion of Mr Rivera as its own. Id. at 20, 16, 18 TA \s "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 20 (1994)" . The court’s ruling endorsed the prosecutor’s name-calling and told the jury it could act on its emotional response to the conduct that prompted the prosecutor to call Mr Rivera a bastard. In short, the court’s ruling authorized the jury to convict Mr Rivera because, in the jury’s opinion, he was a bastard for mistreating women. The trial court’s “response” was “inadequate to guard against the potential for prejudice.” Id. at 15 TA \s "State v. Sanderson, 336 N.C. 1, 20 (1994)" . Since the court refused to stop the prosecutor’s name-calling and instruct the jury to disregard it, “the prejudicial effect of the argument requires a new trial.” State v. Monk, 286 N.C. 509, 518 (1975) TA \l "State v. Monk, 286 N.C. 509, 518 (1975)" \s "State v. Monk, 286 N.C. 509, 518 (1975)" \c 1 .
Finally, the prosecutor’s unchecked name-calling had a possible impact on the jury’s verdicts due to the less than overwhelming case against Mr Rivera. As discussed above in § I.D (pp 21-27), the State’s anticipated three-to-five-week trial collapsed into just four days of evidence. Rico, the State’s only eyewitness to the crimes, admitted he was testifying against Mr Rivera with the “hope” he’d get his sentence reduced in exchange for his testimony. (Tp 1753). The jury also heard Rico—the State’s star witness—had provided investigators three radically different versions of what happened on 12 March 2016: one version in which he protected Mr Rivera by minimizing his participation in the crimes, (Tpp 1710, 1704, 1708-10); a second version in which he pinned everything on Mr Rivera, (Tpp 1712, 1749-51); and a final version in which he purported to come clean about really happened, (Tp 1750).
Besides diverging from his previous accounts, Rico’s testimony was also factually implausible. According to him, he was the only person who used the handgun during the break-in. (Tp 1686). He admitted to shooting Mark but adamantly denied shooting Deidra. (Tpp 1721-24). Indeed, he swore it was “impossible” for Deidra to have been shot with the handgun. (Tp 1724). Yet Deidra’s autopsy unambiguously showed she was shot in the head with a handgun. (Tpp 1471-73, 1486). So despite Rico’s assurances he was testifying truthfully, he was either lying about who used the handgun, or he was lying about not shooting Deidra in the head.
These serious problems with the testimony of the State’s only eyewitness to the crimes made its case against Mr Rivera less than overwhelming. Given the State’s “weak” case, the prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard during closing arguments had a possible impact on the jury’s decision to convict him. See Berger, 295 U.S. at 88-89 TA \s "Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88-89 (1935)"  (where case against defendant was “weak,” as it “depend[ed]” on the testimony of “an accomplice with a long criminal record,” prosecutor’s improper argument had “probable” effect on jury’s decision).
In sum, the prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard was degrading and intended to distract the jury from its role as the factfinder. The unwarranted insult likely carried significant weight with the jury because it came from the State’s representative. The trial court’s failure to sustain defense counsel’s objection and instruct the jury to disregard the name-calling communicated to the jury the prosecutor’s remark was not improper, and that the jury could adopt the prosecutor’s personal opinion of Mr Rivera as its own. The State’s case was not overwhelming, as it depended on the testimony of a codefendant with major credibility problems. Had the trial court sustained counsel’s objection and told the jury to ignore the prosecutor’s calling Mr Rivera a bastard, there’s at least a reasonable possibility the jury would’ve reached a different outcome at Mr Rivera’s trial. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a) (2022) TA \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a)" . The prejudice resulting from the prosecutor’s improper closing argument entitles Mr Rivera to a new trial.
Conclusion
The trial court violated Mr Rivera’s right to confrontation and cross-examination. This violation wasn’t harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and thus Mr Rivera should be awarded a new trial. He’s also entitled to a new trial because the trial court permitted the prosecutor—over objection—to call Mr Rivera a “bastard” during closing arguments.
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� Several people involved in this case share the same surname. For clarity, everyone except the defendant and sheriff’s deputies are referred to by their first name or nickname.


� To “hit a lick” means to obtain money or something of value through crime. (Tpp 1521-22).


� “Beating in” is a form of gang initiation in which a new member is beaten up by other members of the gang. State v. Hightower, 168 N.C. App. 661, 663 (2005)� TA \l "State v. Hightower, 168 N.C. App. 661, 663 (2005)" \s "State v. Hightower, 168 N.C. App. 661, 663 (2005)" \c 1 �.


� Under Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)� TA \l "Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)" \s "Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)" \c 1 �, due process requires the prosecution to disclose to the defense any evidence that could be used to impeach a prosecution witness. United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)� TA \l "United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)" \s "United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)" \c 1 �.


� The transcript of Lt Turk’s voir dire, as well as the parties’ arguments and the court’s ruling, is appended to this brief. (App’x pp 1-16).





